1959

Harris Bethers v. Lalif Wood dba Industrial Construction Co. : Brief of Defendant and Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

Plaintiff sought to recover the sum of \$29,009.90 claimed due him for the performance of a subcontract entered into between himself and the defendant, whereby the plaintiff undertook to furnish gravel required in the construction of a highway from East Paria Creek, Utah, to Utah-Arizona State Line. The defendant was at the time under contract with the Utah State Road Commission to build the road in accordance with the provisions of a prime contract.

Defendant counterclaimed and alleged a right of set-off for a sum in excess of the claim made by the plaintiff by reason of plaintiff's default, arising from his delay in furnishing the gravel as directed by defendant and as set forth in the contract.

During the course of trial, while defendant was presenting his case, the court ruled as a matter of law that the subcontract prevented defendant from asserting any damages by way of counterclaim.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 16, 1957, defendant, doing business as Industrial Construction Company, entered into a contract with the Utah State Road Commission, wherein he undertook to construct a bituminous surfaced road in Kane County, State of Utah, between nine miles east of Paria Creek and the Utah-Arizona State Line, identified as Project No. F. L. P. 31 (1) and S. P. 1583, of approximately 12.041 miles in length. Under the terms of the contract, defendant agreed to furnish labor and materials for the construction of the road in accordance with the drawings, plans, and specifications and addendums attached to and made a part of the contract, all as set forth in Exhibit 10.

On the 17th day of January, 1957, defendant entered into a subcontract with plaintiff, Harris Bethers, whereby the latter undertook and agreed

to furnish the gravel required in the construction of the highway. (Exhibit P-1).

Since some of the provisions of that contract are in dispute, they will be set forth at length for the purpose of future reference. Section 3 of the contract provides:

“The subcontractor agrees to complete the several portions and the whole of the work herein sublet by the time or time following: (Here insert the date or date and if there be liquidated damages, state them.)

“Delivery of materials to keep up as directed, behind grading equipment at all times. Should contractor have to assume charge on account of delay by subcontractor, the expense accrued therein will be deducted from the contract price. Contractor to receive gravel at site of crushing plant in the bin.”

Section 5 provides:

“The contractor and subcontractor agree to be bound by the terms of the Agreement, the general conditions, drawings, and specifications as far as applicable to this subcontract, and also by the following provisions:
* * * The contractor agrees —

“(k) to make no demand for liquidated damages or penalty for delay in any sum in excess of such amount as may be specifically named in this subcontract.

“(1) That no claim for services rendered or material furnished by the contractor to the subcontractor shall be valid unless written notice thereof is given by the con-

tractor to the subcontractor during the first ten days of the calendar month following that in which the claim originated."

Upon signing the subcontract, defendant instructed the plaintiff as to the manner in which gravel was to be supplied in order that deliveries of materials would be kept up to the grading equipment (T. 134-135). Plaintiff informed the defendant that he would be on the job ready to crush gravel in approximately one week from the date the subcontract was signed, January 17, 1957 (T. 137). Plaintiff did not move the gravel crusher onto the job until approximately March 4, although defendant began preparing the grading operation one month previously (T. 58). At the time the crushing equipment arrived, approximately 20 per cent of rough grading had been completed by plaintiff (Exhibit 15, Weekly Report No. 5). Although the contract specified that defendant was to receive the gravel supplied by the contractor at the site of the crushing plant in the bin, the bin was not supplied by the plaintiff until April 4, 1957, (T. 61), which required defendant to employ additional equipment in order to handle the gravel as it was crushed (T. 63). The defendant was to supply scales for weighing the gravel before placing it upon the road bed; and although the scales were not placed at the job site until sometime between February 25, 1957, and March 4, 1957, (T. 100-

131), the defendant testified that he could have had scales available on 48 hours' notice but didn't bring them to the job site until plaintiff determined where he was going to set his crusher. The scales weighed between 15 and 20 tons, and plaintiff wished to avoid unnecessary handling (T. 131-132). Mr. Hilton, the State Resident Engineer, testified that, if the crusher had been in operation before the scales arrived, the gravel supplied could have been stockpiled and then weighed before placing it on the road (T. 122).

Considerable evidence was introduced tending to show the manner in which the construction of the road was to proceed, through Mr. Hilton, Resident Engineer for the State of Utah, (T. 76-7) and also by Mr. Wood (T. 136). Mr. Wood, on numerous occasions, directed the plaintiff to produce gravel at a faster rate so that it could be kept up with the grading equipment (T. 59, 139-140, 144, 149, 151, 152, and 153). By June 28, 1957, the grading phase of the construction had reached a point where the entire grade of the roadbed was in a condition to receive all of the gravel (T. 86). At that time the production of gravel was approximately four miles behind the grading, although the evidence indicated that the gravel could reasonably be expected to keep within 500 to 1000 feet of the grading equipment (T. 151-152). Mr. Wood testified that had the

gravel been supplied pursuant to his instructions and directions to the plaintiff, that he had the equipment standing available to lay it; and that the road would have been virtually complete at that time except to mix and lay oil and the "applying of chips and final clean-up" (T. 155-156).

Under the terms of the contract, plaintiff was required to supply three types of gravel. However, none of the gravel items were fully supplied until August 10, 1957, when the gravel base item was completed (Exhibit 15, Report 29).

On the 4th day of December, 1957, the parties entered into an Agreement for the purpose of "completing two items covered by this contract (of January 17, 1957), without affecting the rights of either of said parties under the terms of the contract dated January 17, 1957" (Exhibit 4).

On December 21, 1957, defendant terminated plaintiff for his failure to meet the schedule set forth in the Supplemental Agreement of December 4, 1957. In this connection the trial court found that "on or about the 23rd day of December, 1957, the defendant took over performance of the said Supplemental Agreement and incurred expenses in procuring gravel from other sources, which expenses have been charged against the contract price due plaintiff" (T. 162).

During the course of defendant's case, the court, on motion of plaintiff's counsel, took under consideration the effect of Section 3 of the Subcontract, as well as Subsections (k) and (l) of Section 5 of the contract (T. 157 and 158). The court ruled as a matter of law that the defendant was not entitled to claim damages as asserted in his counterclaim by reason of these sections as more fully appears from the Conclusions of Law made and entered by the court herein (T. 164). Judgment was entered for plaintiff in the sum of \$27,082.62, with interest in the amount of \$2,349.71, and costs.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT 1.

THE COURT ERRED IN RULING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE PROVISIONS OF THE SUBCONTRACT AND PARTICULARLY SECTION 3 AND SECTION 5 PRECLUDED THE DEFENDANT FROM ASSERTING THE ALLEGED DAMAGES AS SET FORTH IN THE COUNTERCLAIM AND DISMISSING DEFENDANT'S COUNTERCLAIM WITH PREJUDICE.

- A. Damages resulting from delay in performance of a contract, or failure to perform it within the time agreed, is the actual loss sustained by reason of the delay.
- B. Section 3 of the contract does not provide an exclusive remedy of defendant, and taking over of the supplemental contract by defendant did not constitute a waiver of his right to assert damages against plaintiff, which arose from delay.
- C. Section 3 of the contract does not make provision

for liquidated damages, as referred to in Section 5 (k). Thus, the basis for computing damages is the actual damage suffered by defendant by reason of the delay.

- D. Section 5 (1) does not require defendant to give notice to plaintiff for damages sought for delay in performing the contract.

POINT II.

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT PLAINTIFF FURNISHED GRAVEL TO THE DEFENDANT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE SUBCONTRACT AND THAT PLAINTIFF SUBSTANTIALLY PERFORMED ALL OF THE COVENANTS AGREED BY HIM TO BE PERFORMED.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COURT ERRED IN RULING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE PROVISIONS OF THE SUBCONTRACT AND PARTICULARLY SECTION 3 AND SECTION 5 PRECLUDED THE DEFENDANT FROM ASSERTING THE ALLEGED DAMAGES AS SET FORTH IN THE COUNTERCLAIM AND DISMISSING DEFENDANT'S COUNTERCLAIM WITH PREJUDICE.

- A. Damages resulting from delay in performance of a contract, or failure to perform it within the time agreed, is the actual loss sustained by reason of the delay.

There appears no serious disagreement with the general rule of law that the measure of damages for delay in the performance of a contract or the failure to perform it within the time agreed upon is the actual loss sustained by reason the

delay. 15 Am. Jur., Damages, Sec. 47; *U. S. v. Smith*, 94 U. S. 214, 24 L. Ed. 115; *U. S. v. Muller*, 113 U. S. 153, 5 S. Ct. 380, 28 L. Ed. 946; *Sprague v. Boyles Bros. Drilling Co.*, 294 P. 2d 689, 4 Utah 2d 344 (1956).

No limitation appears to be placed upon the nature of the damage resulting from delay in the performance of a contract for which recovery can be had, provided the claim is proved by satisfactory evidence.

In the instant case, the defendant sought to claim and recoup against the agreed price the actual damages sustained by him by reason of defendant's delay. This, in effect, was the point at issue in the case of *Wisconsin Bridge & Iron Co. v. City of Alpena*, 238 Mich. 164, 213 N. W. 93 (1927), where the plaintiff contracted with the defendant city to build a bridge and submitted two bids showing different prices for different completion dates. The city accepted the higher bid for faster completion. The contract did not stipulate damages for delay, and the contract was not performed within the agreed time. The city withheld approximately \$2,000.00 of the contract price, which it claimed as damages resulting from the delay. The plaintiff sued, and the city defended, claiming recoupment, and a jury returned a verdict in favor of the city based on the difference between the original two bid prices.

The Appellate court reversed the jury award because the remedy under the low and unaccepted bid exacted a penalty and was not an "admeasurement of damages."

The court then said:

"If a contract provides no remedy by way of liquidated damages, then damages in recoupment of the contract price must be established by evidence showing actual damages and the amount thereof. * * * Failure of plaintiff to perform within the time fixed in the contract gave the city the right to claim and recoup against the agreed price the actual damages sustained; such damages, if any, to be established only by evidence showing the nature and extent thereof."

The foregoing case followed the established principle of law in the absence of a provision in the contract for liquidated damages.

In the instant case the court denied the defendant the opportunity of proving his actual damages, or of even stating a claim in recoupment against the plaintiff, and ruled as a matter of law that the subcontract Sections 3 and 5 (k) and (l) precluded him from asserting any claim for damages against the plaintiff.

Section 3 of the Subcontract provides:

"The subcontractor agrees to complete the several portions and the whole of the work therein sublet by the time or times following:

(Here insert the date or dates; and if there by liquidated damages, state them.)

"Delivery of materials to keep up as directed, behind grading equipment at all times. Should contractor have to assume charge on account of delay by subcontractor, the expense accrued therein will be deducted from the contract price. Contractor to receive gravel at site of crushing plant in the bin."

This subsection of the contract is in part the language of the parties and in part the standardized language of the Standard Form of Subcontract as approved and copyrighted by the American Institute of Architects. A reading of the entire contract clearly indicates that assuming control of the subcontract was not stated as, nor intended to be, the exclusive remedy of the contractor in the event the plaintiff subcontractor fell into default, in supplying the material as directed by defendant.

It is an established principle of law that when work is to be done by a time certain, the party for whom the work is to be done, by allowing it to continue after that date, treats the contract as still in force, but waives the materiality of time. Such does not constitute a waiver of his right to damages sustained by reason of the delay.

The early case of *Sinclair v. Talmadge*, 35 Barb. 602 (N.Y. 1861), adopted this rule of law and it has been generally applied by the courts throughout America. There the plaintiff had con-

tracted to build certain stores for the defendant, which were not completed within the time specified. Upon the defendant's refusal to pay a portion of the final installment, suit was instituted by him to recover the unpaid portion. The court stated, page 606:

"The defendants, by suffering the plaintiffs to go on after the time limit, and complete the buildings, waived for forfeiture, which they might have claimed had they exacted it on the day. It was the right of the defendants to rescind the contract after the day upon which the work was to have been done; and had they done so, the plaintiffs could not have recovered for the work done. But both parties, after that treated the contract as still in force, and the plaintiff was suffered to go on under it, and the claim of the defendants is now limited to damages for nonperformance as to time, and this claim has been allowed them." See also *Foster v. Worthington*, 2 N. Eng. R. 474, 59 Vt. 65.

A similar situation existed in the case of *McMaster v. State*, 108 N. Y. 542, 15 N. E. 417 (1888), where the contractor agreed to furnish and cut stone for the construction of certain buildings. The specifications for the buildings were later altered by the owner in violation of the contract so as to require the building then remaining unconstructed to be built of brick and merely trimmed with stone. The court observed:

"It is undoubtedly the rule that where

one party to a contract breaks the same, the other party may stop and refuse further performance. But, instead of doing so, he may perform so far as he is permitted, and then claim the damages he has suffered from the breach. Here the contractors furnished and cut the stone for the trimmings, not under a new contract, but under and in performance of the original contract, and for the prices therein mentioned, and this they could do without any ratification of the modification of the contracts attempted by the State.

“Further, the fact that a party continues to perform a contract following a breach by the other party, carries with it no presumption that there was a waiver of his right of action for the breach of the contract, by the mere fact that he proceeded with the work after the breach.” *Markey v. Milwaukee*, 76 Wisc. 349, 45 N. W. 28 (1890).

In a case which is strikingly similar to the one at bar, a subcontractor sought to recover for railroad construction work from the general contractor. The general contractor claimed the right to set off the expense of doing certain work which exceeded the amounts owing the subcontractor in regard to which the subcontractor was in default under the terms of his contract, and also under an agreement for an extension of time. The court, in holding that the general contractors were entitled to the set off said:

“As to the retained percentage, it would seem that, by the express terms of the con-

tract between Sands and Oliver and Quigg, they had the right of set-off, for the contract says: 'The said retained percentage to be held by the contractor as a guarantee for the faithful performance of his contract as herein stipulated.' But upon general principles governing the right of set-off, independently of the terms of the contract, Sands & Oliver had the right to have allowed in their favor any demand they might establish against Quigg for breach of his contract with them." *Sands v. Quigg*, 111 Va. 476, 69 S. E. 440 (1910).

The U. S. Supreme Court recognized this rule in the case of *Dermott v. Jones*, 23 How. (U. S.) 220, 16 L. Ed. 442. The defendant had engaged the plaintiff to build a building and the contract called for installments of \$5,000.00 to be paid July 1, 1851; another installment of \$5,000.00 to be paid October 1, 1851; and a final payment of \$14,000.00 was to be paid January 1, 1860. The building was to be ready for use October 1, 1851. An action was brought to recover the second installment of \$5,000.00, which was not paid by October 1, 1851, and the answer denied that the building was ready for use on the due date. The testimony in fact showed it was completed and accepted December 4, 1851.

"In such a case, the party cannot recover the remuneration stipulated for in the contract, because he has not done that which was to be the consideration of it. Still, if the other party has derived any benefit from the labor done, it would be unjust to allow him to retain

that without paying anything. The law, therefore, implies a promise on his part to pay such a remuneration as the benefit conferred is really worth . . ." See also *Phillips Construction Co. v. Seymour*, 91 U. S. 646, 23 L. Ed. 341, where the court found that urging a builder to go on and the making of part payment after failure constitutes a waiver of the strict performance as to time.

Thus, in the case before the court, the maximum amount the plaintiff is entitled to recover is the actual net benefit, if any, resulting to defendant, which is the contract price, less the amount of damage occurring to defendant, by reason of plaintiff's delay in performance.

A summary of the law on this point is contained in *Williston on Contracts*, Section 699 (Rev. Ed.).

"Many cases have arisen where builders and contractors have failed to complete the agreed work by the time fixed in the contract If after the time has already elapsed, the owner permits the builder to continue to work, even if the contract or materiality of the breach gave the owner power to terminate the contract on such a contingency, his conduct is an election to go on with the contract rather than to forfeit it, and on the completion of the work the owner is liable for the price, though he is entitled to a cross claim for any damages caused by the delay." (Citing cases).

"The true measure of recovery is the sum stipulated in the agreement, less the

damages sustained by the failure strictly to perform. The principle underlies all decisions involving consideration of the proper rule for ascertaining the amount recoverable in cases of substantial performance of contracts for services or for the furnishing of materials. All the decisions are referable to the underlying principle that the party in default can never gain by his default, and the other party can never be permitted to lose by it." 58 Am. Jur., Work & Labor, Sections 53 and 54.

In the instant case, plaintiff's constant refusal to "catch up with the contract" by supplying sufficient gravel materials to permit the graveling portion of the operation to maintain pace with the grading aspect of the road construction gave the defendant two alternatives. First, he could have terminated the contract and engaged another to perform it; and under the terms of the contract, Section 3, which merely stated the general rule of law, the additional expense in so doing could have been deducted from the contract price. Second, the defendant could permit the plaintiff to continue with his contract. Under the principle of law discussed above, defendant would then waive the materiality of the time of performance, but would be entitled to offset the damage resulting to himself by reason of the delay against any amounts which became due for performance under the contract.

It should be noted in this case that the segment of road which was being constructed was in a remote

area of the State, and the defendant was undoubtedly faced with a practical problem in obtaining gravel to complete his contract for the State of Utah. The fact that he permitted the plaintiff to remain on the job and produce gravel at a rate substantially less than contemplated by the parties, did not constitute a waiver of his right to claim damages by reason of that delay. As indicated above, the plaintiff cannot take advantage of his delay in performance, and the defendant should not be permitted to lose by it.

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