1960

Harris Bethers v. Lalif Wood dba Industrial Construction Co. : Brief of Plaintiff and Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN DISMISSING
THE COUNTERCLAIM.

A. Sections 3 and 5 (k) of the subcontract bar
the defendant's claim for damages.

Sections 3 and 5 of the subcontract so far as material
here provide as follows:

"Section 3. The Subcontractor agrees to complete the several portions and the whole of the work herein sublet by the time or times following: (Here insert the date or dates and if there be liquidated damages state them.)

"Delivery of materials to keep up as directed, behind grading equipment at all times. *Should Contractor have to assume charge on account of delay by Subcontractor, the expense accrued therein will be deducted from the contract price.* Contractor to receive gravel at site of crushing plant in the bin.

"Section 5. The Contractor and Subcontractor agree to be bound * * * by the following provisions: * * * The Contractor agrees— * * * (k) To make no demand for liquidated damages or penalty for delay in any sum in excess of such amount as may be specifically named in the Subcontract."

It is important to note that Section 3 of the subcontract is a specific section dealing with the time for performance and prescribing a remedy and measure of damages for delay. The legal effect of this provision is to make any delay on the part of the subcontractor a material breach of the contract which gives the contractor the remedy of terminating the contract and charging the entire cost of completion against the contract price. This is a reasonable and effective remedy. The issue before the District Court and before this Court on appeal is not what the measure of damages for delay would be in the absence of this provision. The question here is whether or not the remedy or measure of damages prescribed by this section of the contract is exclusive. We submit that the trial court did not err in determining that it is.

It appears to be a majority rule of law that where the parties to a contract prescribe a remedy for breach the remedy so prescribed is exclusive. The general rule is stated in 12 Am. Jur. 1042 as follows:

“* * * [W]hen parties stipulate in a contract what the consequences of a breach of the agreement shall be, such stipulation if reasonable is controlling and excludes other consequences. Where a contract prescribes a remedy for a breach, that remedy is generally exclusive.”

This is also true where a rule or measure of damages is referred to in the contract. The rule is expressed thus in 15 Am. Jur. 448.

“§49. Agreements as to damages.—Where parties agree upon a rule of damages to be followed in case of a breach, no other or different rule will be enforced.”

There is no rule of law which prevents parties to a contract from stipulating for a particular remedy or measure of damages to apply on default and where there is such a stipulation, it has been interpreted by the courts to be exclusive. A case applying this principle of law is *Rubin v. Crowley, Milner & Company*, 214 Mich. 365, 183 N. W. 51. In the *Rubin* case plaintiff brought suit for the purchase price of 18 coats sold to the defendant. The defendant sought to offset the amount of its damages caused by an alleged nonconformity of the coats with samples submitted before the sale. Among the provisions of the contract was the following:

“All goods in excess of purchase or different from samples or specifications, returnable at shipper’s expense.”

The defendant contended that the language of the contract simply gave him the right to return the goods but did not provide an exclusive remedy for breach of contract, and that it could elect to retain the coats and sue for its damages. The court held that the remedy provided by the contract was exclusive. In construing the agreement, the court said:

“[T]he instant case is one where an express contract exists, where the parties have by express agreement provided for the contingency which arose and agreed upon the measure of their liability. Under such circumstances we do not feel called upon to determine what the rights of the parties would be in case there was no contract, * * *.”

In *Edwards v. Perdue*, 177 Ark. 241. 6 S. W. 2d 20, the plaintiff sold a lease to the defendant under a contract pro-

viding for the payment of the purchase price in installments. The lease was put in escrow with instructions to the escrow agent that in the default of the payment of the purchase price the lease was to be returned to the seller after which no obligation should remain. Plaintiff brought suit for recovery of the balance of the purchase price and the defendant contended by way of defense that the return of the lease was the sole remedy. The trial court allowed recovery of the balance of the purchase price and the Supreme Court reversed. The rationale of the court is expressed in the following language:

“It is a settled principle of law that, when the parties themselves in a contract provide the remedy in case of default by either party, the remedy so provided is conclusive.”

Similarly, in *Bottemiller v. Ball*, 130 Ore. 255, 279 Pac. 542, the buyer under a written land purchase contract agreed that the seller should be entitled to a surrender of the land upon default in the performance of the contract by the buyer. The court was called upon to determine whether or not upon the buyer's default the seller had any remedy other than to recover the property. The court said:

“When the parties prepared their contract they evidently anticipated such a situation as now confronts them and made provision as to how the controversy should be disposed of; that is, the defendant should ‘surrender and deliver up the said property and premises to the seller.’ They are agreed that this court has held that when a contract prescribes a remedy for a breach, that remedy is generally exclusive and will be enforced. The following adjudications justify their conclusions. (Citing Cases.)”

In *Buffalo Pitts Company v. Alderdice*, (Texas), 177 S. W. 1044, the rule was expressed as follows:

“* * * It has uniformly been ruled that, when the parties to a contract agree upon the remedies that shall accrue in case of breach thereof, such agreed remedies are exclusive of all others.”

In *McCreedy v. Lindenborn*, 172 N. Y. 400, 65 N. E. 208, the Supreme Court of New York said:

“* * * When the parties by their contract provide for the consequences of a breach, lay down a rule to admeasure the damages, and agree when they are to be paid, the remedy thus provided must be exclusively followed.”

In *Ancrum v. Camden Water, Light & Ice Company*, 82 S. C. 284, 64 S. E. 151, the rule was stated thus:

“When parties themselves stipulate in the contract what shall be the consequences of a breach of the agreement, such stipulation if reasonable, is controlling, and excludes other consequences. (Citing Cases.)”

We submit that even disregarding Section 5 (k) of the contract the legal effect of prescribing a remedy for delay in Section 3 was to render said remedy exclusive. Regardless of the above rule of law, however, it is clear from a reading of the subcontract that it was the intent of the parties that the remedy and measure provided be exclusive.

Assume the rule to be that the court must construe the entire contract to determine whether or not the remedy prescribed for delay was *intended* by the parties to be exclusive. The same result must follow. Section 3 was clearly

intended by the parties to prescribe the time for performance and the penalty or remedy for delay. The parties contemplated that the contractor (defendant) would "assume charge" in the event of delay and deduct "the expense accrued therein" from the contract price. By paragraph 5 (k) the contractor agrees "to make no demand for penalty for delay in any sum in excess of such amount as may be specifically named in the subcontract." *The "penalty for delay" prescribed by Section 3 is the sum expended by the contractor in completing the job after he has assumed charge on account of delay.* (In some cases this could equal or exceed the contract price.) Thus, the very language of the contract itself makes the penalty or remedy for delay prescribed in Section 3 exclusive. A different construction would certainly defeat the obvious intent of the parties. The parties did not intend another or different remedy or measure of damages.

The most conclusive answer in this case, however, is the fact that the contractor did "assume charge on account of delay" and the expense accrued therein was charged against the contract price. He did avail himself of the prescribed remedy. The evidence is clear as stated by appellant in his brief that the defendant did take over performance of the contract as modified and it is agreed that the entire expense accrued therein was charged against the contract price. When defendant took over after terminating on December 21, he indicated in his letter of termination that the measure of damages would be to withhold the cost of completion from amounts due plaintiff (Exhibit 8). This should be the end of the counterclaim.

The defendant, having availed himself of the remedy prescribed in the contract, now seeks to recover under an entirely separate remedy and measure of damages. Defendant says that he had men and equipment on stand-by during the months of July through August; that the wages and rental value thereof (amounting to a figure of approximately \$53,000) is chargeable to the plaintiff; that he could continue to incur a counterclaim against defendant on the theory of delay, and that when this imaginative amount had been incurred, he could then step in, complete the contract, charge the entire cost of completion to the plaintiff, and then recover the full amount of all of his claimed damages for the period he had not pursued the remedy prescribed in the contract. We submit that the court properly interpreted Sections 3 and 5 to limit the defendant's recovery to the amount expended in completing the contract and to preclude the fantastic counterclaim.

The cases cited in defendant's brief in support of the argument that the prescribed remedy is not exclusive do not involve contracts prescribing a remedy for a specific breach nor a provision (such as Section 5 (k)) expressly limiting the contractor's remedy to that prescribed by the parties. The general principles of law urged by defendant have no application whatever to the facts of this case where the court must construe the contract of the parties.

- B. The defendant's counterclaim is barred by reason of his failure to comply with the requirements of Section 5 (l) of the subcontract.

Section 5 (1) of the subcontract reads as follows:

"The Contractor agrees—(1) That no claim for services rendered or materials furnished by the Contractor to the subcontractor shall be valid unless written notice thereof is given by the Contractor to the Subcontractor during the first ten days of the calendar month following that in which the claim originated."

Defendant's counterclaim is composed of employee's wages and the alleged rental value of equipment (See R. 22). (Defendant was allowed the item for gravel procured from other sources.) No notice of claim covering these charges was given to the subcontractor (See Supplemental Record). This is not a case involving claims for delay consisting of penalties imposed upon the contractor by the owner or general allegations of loss of profits. The contractor seeks here to charge men and equipment to the subcontractor. The question is whether or not the contractor under the provisions of his contract may allow such expense to accrue without notice to the subcontractor and still have a right to recover the alleged items of expense. We think that Section 5 (1) was drafted to avoid this very result.

The obvious purport of Section 5 (1) was to provide the subcontractor with notice of his standing with, and obligation to the contractor. If the contractor was to charge the subcontractor with the wages of employees or rental value of equipment, the subcontractor was entitled to notice as prescribed by the contract and in the absence thereof no such claim is "valid."

In urging that the trial court erred in interpreting Section 5 (1), the defendant cites a single case which con-

strues the words "stockyard services" as used in a statute. Obviously, the judicial interpretation of the words "stockyard services" could have no application to the facts of this case. Contrary to the defendant's tortuous construction to require something "useful" (whatever that means), the purpose of the provision in which this word "services" is used is to give notice of the charge to the subcontractor. It gives him a right to know of these charges as they accrue so that he may know of his standing with the contractor and do what is necessary to avoid such future charges. If he is to be charged, it is of no concern to him whether the service is characterized as useful or not. His interest is in the purported charge and an itemization thereof and not an analysis of the character of it. It makes no difference whether the men and equipment were actually working in what the contractor characterizes a "useful endeavor" so long as the charge was to be made to the plaintiff. Section 5 (1) gave him a right to know of the claim. If the charges for alleged rental value and wage expense are for "services" within the meaning of Section 5 (1) *as construed in light of the purpose of the provision in which they are found*, the defendant's failure to give notice bars his claim. The issue is just that simple.

The legal definition commonly given for the word "services" is expressed in 79 C. J. S. 1143, as follows:

"Services. * * * In the plural the term involves more than mere labor, and signifies much more than merely the act of performing labor and may include as well expenditures, materials and things furnished."

In the case of *Levitt v. Faber, et al.*, 64 P. 2d 498, the California court distinguished between the terms "services" and "personal services." In so doing, the court said:

" 'Services' and 'personal services' are not definitely co-extensive. * * * 'Services' may be rendered *though the actual labor be performed by one's employees and by means of his machinery or other equipment*, but 'personal services' are those performed by the individual himself." (Emphasis supplied.)

Thus services includes not only manpower but machinery and equipment. See also *People v. McCord*, 59 P. 2d 587, interpreting the language "services or materials" to include a charge for transportation.

Considering the purpose of the text where it is found, the language "claim for services rendered" includes the wages of employees and the rental value of equipment which the defendant seeks by his counterclaim to charge to the plaintiff. The whole purpose of Section 5 (1) is to give notice to the subcontractor of any such claim and an interpretation which would allow the contractor to charge such items to the subcontractor and recover the same without notice frustrates the plain language and intent of the written instrument. The court did not err in holding that the counterclaim was barred for defendant's failure to comply with Section 5 (1).

C. Defendant's failure to make progress payments excused any delay in performance of the subcontract.

The plaintiff is suing for gravel furnished after June 30, 1957. Defendant claims that he had men and equipment on stand-by during that period. During the same period the defendant failed and refused to make progress payments for the gravel furnished by the plaintiff. The failure to make progress payments was a material breach of the subcontract which would not only have justified the plaintiff's termination of the contract had he chosen to do so, but under the circumstances constituted a legal excuse for any delay. In *Guerini Stone Company v. Carlin Construction Company*, 248 U. S. 334, 345, the United States Supreme Court said:

“* * * In a building or construction contract like the one in question, calling for the performance of labor and furnishing of materials * * * a stipulation for payments on account to be made from time to time during the progress of the work must be deemed so material that a substantial failure would justify the contractor in declining to proceed.”

The general rule of law to the same effect is set forth in 17 C. J. S. 981. If such a failure on the part of the contractor would excuse further performance on the part of the subcontractor, certainly it would excuse delay in performance. The contractor should not be heard to complain of delay at the same time he is withholding payments due the subcontractor under the provisions of the contract. The defendant is not entitled to insist upon a strict compliance with the time provisions of the contract when he himself has failed to do his part on time or at all. We submit that the defendant's failure to comply in this respect is a bar to his counterclaim.

D. The defendant has waived any right he might have had to recover damages for delay.

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